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STATE OF MAINE REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

RFP AMENDMENT #2 AND

RFP SUBMITTED QUESTIONS & ANSWERS SUMMARY
	RFP NUMBER AND TITLE:
	202404081 Statewide Database Package of Online Resources

	RFP ISSUED BY:
	Maine State Library

	SUBMITTED QUESTIONS DUE DATE:
	April 24, 2024, no later than 11:59 pm, local time

	AMENDMENT AND QUESTION & ANSWER SUMMARY ISSUED:
	April 26, 2024

	PROPOSAL DUE DATE:
	May 6, 2024, no later than 11:59 pm, local time

	PROPOSALS DUE TO:
	proposals@maine.gov

	Unless specifically addressed below, all other provisions and clauses of the RFP remain unchanged.

	DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES IN RFP (if any):

1. All references to Contract Term and Contract Renewal should be for an initial two-year contract period, with 2 two-year contract renewal periods.

2. All references to the Bidder’s Proposal submission for File 3 – Proposed Services and Technical Assessment, should use Appendices F, G, and H.

3. All references to Department PII level in Appendix H, with the instructions referring to “Type of Data” column checked below is revised to remove “checked below” since any labelled row in the “Type of Data” column needs to be answered by the bidder.

(continue on next page)

	REVISED LANGUAGE IN RFP (if any):
1a. On page 8, Contract Term
The Department is seeking a cost-efficient proposal to provide services, as defined in the RFP, for the anticipated contract period defined in the table below.  Please note, the dates below are estimated and may be adjusted, as necessary, in order to comply with all procedural requirements associated with the RFP and the contracting process.  The actual contract start date will be established by a completed and approved contract.

Contract Renewal:  Following the initial term of the contract, the Department may opt to renew the contract for 2 two-year renewal periods, as shown in the table below, and subject to continued availability of funding and satisfactory performance.

The term of the anticipated contract, resulting from the RFP, is defined as follows:

Period

Start Date

End Date

Initial Period of Performance

July 1, 2024

June 30, 2026

Renewal Period #1

July 1, 2026

June 30, 2028

Renewal Period #2

July 1, 2028
June 30, 2030
1b. On page 28, Appendix D

Bidders are to provide their proposed cost for the initial period of performance and each available renewal period (4).  Bidder's costs must include the cost for all content and services provided in Part A (A.1-A.7) and the additional no cost content, services or products provided in Part B (if applicable). Copyright, license and royalty fees must be included in the product price.

Bidder’s Organization Name:

Initial Period of Performance: July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2026

 $

Renewal Period #1: July 1, 2026 to June 30, 2028

$

Renewal Period #2: July 1, 2028 to June 30, 2030

 $

Total Proposed 6-Year Cost

$   0.00
The full total "6-year" cost of the single statewide package of databases and associated services will be used to calculate and score the cost proposals. 

(continue on next page)

	2. On page 15, File 3 [Bidder’s Name] – Proposed Services and Technical Assessment

Microsoft Word format preferred for Proposed Services; Microsoft Excel format preferred for Technical Assessment
All required information and attachments stated in PART IV, Section III (Appendices F, G, and H).



	3a.  Appendix H, Data Compliance tab, Data Classification section (at top)

“The State data subject to this RFP has been classified as having a PII Impact Level of Low”

3b. Appendix H, Data Compliance tab, Bidder Compliance instructions

“If the Type of Data column has items listed, respond “Yes” or “No” in the “Comply” column and provide an explanation on how you comply in the “Bidder’s Description of Compliance” column with artifacts.”

(End of Amendment, Q&A Summary begins next page)


Provided below are submitted written questions received and the Department’s answer.
	1
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg 1
	Regarding the timeline—would the State please consider extending the deadline for submission, preferably by at least 2 weeks? We see there is a significant amount of content analysis requested, which we will have to complete for upwards of 50+ individual databases, in addition to the extensive technical narrative and security questionnaire, to be completed for multiple platforms. We would really appreciate any leeway to make sure we can get this done and submitted to you in time.

	
	Answer

	
	Department declines to answer.


	2
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 8, Section I.D

Pg. 28, Appendix D
	On pg. 8, the text following “Contract Renewal:” seems to conflict with the period of performance table, noting the Department may “opt to renew the contract for 3 one-year renewal periods.” Also, on pg. 28, the RFP states that a “full total 5-year cost” will be used to calculate and score proposals. 

Can you please confirm the contract period will be 2 base years, with 2 (two-year each) renewal options (for a potential 6-year total)?

	
	Answer

	
	Please refer to Amendment 1, at the beginning of this document.


Q&A Summary Continues Next Page.

	3
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 10, Section II.A.2

Pg. 11, Section II. A.3
	Section A.2 is relating to the interface (including search/discovery interface), and Section A.3 requests that the vendor “must act as the single provider of location-based authentication services for all DML resources, including other vendors' products.” 

1. Can you please confirm whether you are looking for a cross-vendor discovery service to be included with this proposal? Or will a discovery layer be the subject of a subsequent RFP?

2. If included with this proposal, can/should the discovery service be priced separately?

	
	Answer

	
	1. This RFP does not request a proposal for a cross vendor discovery layer. Interface and discovery requirements are for the search interface(s) provided by the vendor for the vendor’s resources. A.3 refers solely to authentication, not discovery. 
2. The Department is asking for a location-based authentication mechanism to be included in the package. Where possible, we request that functionality be used to authorize the user based on their location being within Maine, and to pass that authorization to other vendors in a manner that will allow access to resources from those vendors without additional authorization actions being required of the user.


	4
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 12, Section II.A.7
	Regarding the statement that “The Vendor must: Maintain institutional and user confidentiality and privacy at all times, with no third-party disclosure of customer information.”

1. Can you please confirm whether minor exceptions can be presented for this requirement?

2. Additionally, can you please define third party, e.g., are subprocessors considered third parties?

	
	Answer

	
	1. No. Exceptions are not permitted. 
2. See Page 16, Section II.2.  All subcontractors that will have access to the data must be listed in this section.  If you have subprocessors that will be handling this data, they MUST be listed.


	5
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 7, Section I. B.7
	Regarding the statement that “all submissions in response to this RFP will be public records, available for public inspection pursuant to the State of Maine Freedom of Access Act (FOAA) (1 M.R.S. § 401 et seq.)”

1. Can you please clarify whether bids will be posted publicly after submission, or only released in the event of a FOAA request? 
2. If posted publicly, should a redacted copy of our proposal be submitted, or would that be coordinated at the time of request?

	
	Answer

	
	1. Proposal submissions will only be released in the event of an FOAA request.

2. Bidders have the ability to mark any portion of their proposal as confidential, proprietary, trade-secret, or other related designation. The State cannot guarantee that those marked portions of the proposal are not released, as they are considered public records per 1 M.R.S. § 401 et seq.


	6
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 15, Section III.C.2.F

Pg. 17, Section IV.III.1 (Services to be Provided)


	On pg. 15, it’s noted that MS Excel format is preferred for responding to the Technical Assessment (Appendix G), although the template provided is in MS Word format.

Can you please confirm that Word fomat is acceptable?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes, Word format is acceptable.


	7
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 15, Section III.C.2.F

Pg. 17, Section IV.III.1 (Services to be Provided)
	There is mention of Appendix E being part of the response for File 3, and to include our narrative response to Part A.1 through A.7. However, Appendix E is included with the RFP as this Q&A template. 

Can you please confirm whether we should create our own Appendix E document for in-line response to Parts A.1 through A.7? Or is that not necessary / are the prompts of A.1 through A.7 covered by responding to Appendix G?

	
	Answer

	
	Please refer to Amendment 2, at the beginning of this document.


	8
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 16, Part IV
	1. Is each response File meant to be one actual file (e.g., File 1 is meant to be one PDF, including Appendices A & B as a combined document)? 

2. Or are zip files with multiple documents allowable per response File?

	
	Answer

	
	1. Yes.
2. Zip files are allowable because of file size.


	9
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 28, Appendix D
	Can you please confirm the only pricing requested is for a full (bundled) statewide database package?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes, only pricing requested is for a full (bundled) statewide package for the time periods indicated for initial contract period and the two potential renewal periods.


	10
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 28, Appendix D
	Can you please confirm whether the table can be duplicated to present more than one package option?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes the table can be duplicated.


Q&A Summary Continues Next Page.
	11
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 3, Public Notice

Pg. 6, Section I.A

Pg. 8, Section I.E

Pg. 20, Section V.C.4

Pg. 28, Appendix D
	Regarding the statements that: 

“The State of Maine is seeking proposals for a single statewide package of online content (databases) as well as quotations for individually identified online resources.”

“There will be an additional process in the near future that will result in a Pre-Qualified Vendor List to provide additional one-off online content resources for products that are not included in this larger database package.”

“The Department anticipates making one (1) award of the statewide database package.”

“The Department reserves the right to reject any and all proposals or to make multiple awards.”

1. To confirm, is the State planning to award both a single statewide database package and individual resources at this time?

2. Would individual award be considered ONLY for resources that fall outside the scope of the statewide database package?

3. Should Appendix D be manipulated to present pricing for optional, individual resources and/or services? Or do you mean for us to include additional, individual resources in one lump sum price, together with the statewide database package?

4. What individual resources should be presented now vs. in the near future, responding to the Pre-Qualification RFP?

	
	Answer

	
	1. As stated in the RFP, the Department anticipates awarding one contract for a bundled online database package through this RFP process and reserves the right to make multiple awards. 
2. No.

3. As stated in the RFP, the Department anticipates awarding one contract for a bundled online database package through this RFP process and reserves the right to make multiple awards. 

4. For the upcoming PQVL RFP (not this RFP), vendors will be able to submit bids for stand alone databases that are NOT part of the awarded bundled online database package. If optional resource pricing is included in your package proposal(s), it needs to be clear that the optional pricing is in addition to the whole baseline package pricing, OR there should be multiple bundled database package options submitted using Appendix D for each package submitted for consideration that clearly outline the differences in content and pricing between the packages.


	12
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 15, Section III.C.2.F

Appendix H


	The Appendix H questionnaire is not referenced as a required response File.

1. Can you please confirm whether this should be completed and submitted with the rest of the proposal, or would this be requested at a later time?

2. If it needs to be included, please confirm we can/should submit multiple copies per platform.

3. Please also confirm whether this requirement can be waived or completed at a later time for re-seller (non-proprietary) database platforms.

	
	Answer

	
	1. See page 21, Section VI.A.1. which states the following - The awarded Bidder will be required to execute a IT Service Contract (IT-SC) with appropriate riders as determined by the issuing department. Bidders shall carefully review the IT-SC and make note of any proposed exceptions utilizing Appendix H – IT-SC Exception Form. This information is mandatory and must be submitted with the RFP.

2. Multiple copies per platform can be submitted

3. This requirement cannot be waived or completed at a later time.


	13
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Appendix H
	It appears the selection of PII Impact Level was not selected on the Data Compliance tab. There is also no checkmark next to Type of Data line items (which conflicts with the Bidder Compliance instructions). Can you please clarify?

	
	Answer

	
	Please refer to Amendment 3a and 3b at the beginning of this document.


Q&A Summary Continues Next Page.

	14
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 20, Section V.B.4

Pg. 21, Section VI.A.1
	Regarding the statement that “Bidders shall carefully review the IT-SC and make note of any proposed exceptions utilizing Appendix H – IT-SC Exception Form.”

1. The Appendix H form included with the bid documents appears to be a security questionnaire. Can you please clarify / provide the template for proposed exceptions?

2. Can you please also confirm we can include our license agreements for review, to be considered and negotiated for inclusion with any resulting contract?

	
	Answer

	
	1. See answer to question #12.
2. Yes.


	15
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Appendix F
	If the vendor has more than one product to submit in a category, do we submit multiple Appendix F for a category?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes please duplicate Appendix F if necessary.


Q&A Summary Continues Next Page.
	16
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Appendix G, Pg. 1, Section II. A.1.1
	Regarding the prompt to “Describe any ability for the Department to scale a package tier by adding or removing titles, modules or features and how it affects pricing.”

1. Can you please provide some additional discussion on the context of this question? 

2. Are you referring the ability to scale at the state level, at the individual library level, or both?

3. Are you referring to potentially upgrading / downgrading database coverage tiers?

4. Will there be the opportunity to scale throughout the life of the contract?

	
	Answer

	
	1. The ability to scale the database package reflected in this RFP refers to the package scaling for statewide use.
2. See above answer #1 in question 16.

3. The phrase “database coverage tiers” is not defined in this RFP and the Department declines to answer a question with an undefined term.

4. Usage stats and evaluation data will be obtained by the Department during the initial period of the contract, with discussions with the vendor about changes to the package before a renewal contract is finalized.


Q&A Summary Continues Next Page.

	17
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Appendix G, Pg. 1, Section II. A.1.3

	Regarding the prompt to “Describe whether the Department may select which specific database titles or platform modules are included in the package, or whether included content is determined solely by the Bidder.”

1. Can you please provide some additional discussion on the context of this question? 

2. By database titles, do you mean databases in full, or individual publication titles (e.g., journals, magazines) within a database?

3. We note there will be no BAFO requested, and so, to confirm – are you looking for the opportunity to revise offers post-submission, to reflect a State-selected statewide database package?

	
	Answer

	
	1. There are two choices: “Describe whether the Department may select which specific database titles or platform modules are included in the package,” OR “whether included content is determined solely by the bidder.” Whichever situation reflects how the services have been proposed and documented in Appendix F is what should be the foundation for the answer to this question.
2. As defined in the RFP Definitions (page 4), “database” is defined as “a searchable web-based catalog or index containing information about published items or the full text of the published item.”

3. The Department is looking for each bidder to provide the best option(s) for meeting the criteria in this RFP. 


	18
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part 1, Section E – page 8
	We are looking for clarification to the “Number of Awards” section. Will it be one single award for the entire RFP, or one award per category? For example, there are 8 categories of desired content listed in the RFP in section “A.1 Content” – could this mean up to 8 possible different vendors being awarded (one in each category)? Or, will only one vendor be awarded for the entire RFP?

	
	Answer

	
	Please see answer to Question 11.


	19
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Table of Contents – page 2
	The table of contents references a “Bidder’s Conference” in part III subsection A. However, when you scroll down to page 14 in the bid packet where section III starts, there is no reference to a Bidder’s Conference and the sections labeled in the Table of Contents don’t match. Will there be a Bidder’s Conference held?

	
	Answer

	
	There will not be a Bidder’s Conference for this RFP.


	20
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg 28, Appendix 
D
	If vendor has more than one Cost Proposal for individual products, do you want more than one Appendix D Cost Proposal submitted?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes.


	21
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 17, Section II, 6. COI
	Insurance requirements are not specified; could this be expanded on what would be required on the COI?

	
	Answer

	
	Insurance requirements can be found in Rider B-IT of the IT Service Contract (IT-SC) under 19. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS.


	22
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 19, 3. Scoring Cost Proposal
	How will the lowest bid be determined if you are not comparing like products in the offering?

	
	Answer

	
	As stated in Part V, Proposal Evaluation and Selection, sub-section B, scoring weights and process (page 19 of the RFP), cost is only 35% of the point scoring. This RFP seeks to contract for a database package that meets the majority of the needs expressed in the Part II, Scope of Services To Be Provided section (starts on page 9 of the RFP).


	23
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg 9, Part II, kA.1,d. PreK -12
	1. Can vendor submit products that are group in grade levels such as elementary? 

2. Is it your intent to award one vendor for all of PreK-12?

	
	Answer

	
	1. Yes.
2. Please see answer to Question 11.


	24
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg 27, Appendix C
	Project References: in additional to similar projects, would you like vendor to include any references or testimonials within the State of Maine?

	
	Answer

	
	Bidders can submit references from any geographic area. Testimonials have not been requested. Please see Appendix C instructions: “Provide a description of projects that have occurred in the past five year which reflect experience and expertise needed in performing the functions described in Part II – Scope of Services to be Provided of the RFP.”


	25
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Pg. 8, Section I.E


	Please define “1 award.” Are you only awarding 1 company for all categories? 1 award for each category?

	
	Answer

	
	Please see answer to Question 11.


	26
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Appendix F
	Can you please confirm you want us to duplicate the table for each database and to submit as one (combined) file? 

	
	Answer

	
	Please see the answer to Question 15.


	27
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, A.
	Regarding the “additional process in the near future that will result in a Pre-Qualified Vendor List to provide additional one-off online content resources,” How would we go about being included on this list and for this future process? 

	
	Answer

	
	The Pre-Qualified Vendor List (PQVL) RFP will not be released until after the whole process for this current RFP is included. All RFP opportunities in the State of Maine are available on the public web site for procurement, https://www.maine.gov/dafs/bbm/procurementservices/vendors/rfps. Any vendor that would like to be informed about the PQVL RFP process should send an email to Lori Fisher, Maine State Librarian, lori.fisher@maine.gov that includes the Vendor legal name, contact person, email, and phone number.


	28
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Public Notice Section, page 3
	It’s stated the State of Maine is seeking proposals for a single statewide package of online content (databases) as well as quotations for individually identified online resources.   Appendix D does not provide instructions for quoting individual online resources.  How should individual product quotations be submitted?

	
	Answer

	
	Please see the answer to Questions 9.


	29
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, A., page 6
	An additional process is mentioned in Section A that “results in a Pre-Qualified Vendor List to provide additional one-off online content resources that are not included in the larger statewide database package?”  Will that be a separate RFP process and can you anticipate a date for that process to begin?  

	
	Answer

	
	Please see the answers to Questions 11 and 27.


	30
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, A., page 6


	From a budget perspective, are there separate funding sources for this RFP and the additional process in the near future to result in a Pre-Qualified Vendor List to provide additional one-off content resources that are not included in the larger statewide database package?

	
	Answer

	
	Vendors selected through both this RFP and the RFP to determine the Pre-Qualified Vendor List will draw from several funding sources, including the Maine Telecommunications Access Fund; Maine State Library General Fund; Library Services and Technologies Act funding; University of Maine; and Colby, Bates, and Bowdoin Colleges. 


	31
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I, A., Page 6
	Is the total budget allocated for the solicited services the same as the RFP awards resulting from the last RFP for statewide resources?

	
	Answer

	
	There is no set budget allocated for the solicited services. The Department is seeking the best combination of content and service to meet our needs, balanced with cost considerations.


	32
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part I.D, page 8
	Will you please clarify the anticipated contract term dates provided in the chart for the renewal periods.  The renewal periods listed for renewal period #1 and #2 are two year renewal increments which does not match the narrative above the chart indicating the option to renew the contract for 3 one-year renewal periods.   

	
	Answer

	
	Please refer to Amendment 1, at the beginning of this document.


	33
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part II, Section A.1., categories: a, d, e; page 9
	In Appendix F, a few of our proposed databases fall into more than one category.   Do you want us to repeat the description in each category?

	
	Answer

	
	Yes.


	34
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV., Section IV, items 1 & 2, page 17-18
	We plan to propose a statewide database package.   


1. Will you accept multiple packages for consideration that vary in databases included in an individual package and total package price? 


2. If multiple packages can be proposed, how should we identify the package and databases included on Appendix D (Cost Proposal Form)? For example, use a separate form for Package 1 and provide list of databases in package, and package cost information.

	
	Answer

	
	1. Yes.
2. Please use a separate form for proposed Package 1, Package 2, etc., as in the example presented.


	35
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part IV, Section IV., item 2, page 18.
	1. For bidders responding to this RFP for a single statewide database package, can you please confirm if we can provide pricing for single add-on products to the larger database package for consideration at this time?  


2. If yes, can you please clarify how we should present those products and pricing?  

	
	Answer

	
	Please see the answer to Questions 9.


	36
	RFP Section & Page Number
	Question

	
	Part VII, Appendix D, page 28
	The narrative above the Cost Proposal Chart says “5-year cost” yet the chart for performance periods indicates a 6-year cost.   Will you please clarify the performance period and renewal period dates. 

	
	Answer

	
	Please refer to Amendment 1, at the beginning of this document.


End of Q&A Summary.
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